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A consideration of the four-year period that began with Richard Nixon’s 
ascension to the presidency of the United States in January 1969 and ended 
with signing of the Paris Peace Accords in 1973 raises several important 
questions about the Vietnam War. Could an agreement comparable to 
the 1973 deal have been secured earlier? If so, who bears responsibility 
for the delay? What was the impact of the antiwar movement on Nixon’s 
Vietnam policy? Was the war’s expansion into Laos and Cambodia nec-
essary or criminal? Were the constraints on Nixon’s prosecution of the 
war evidence of the functioning of democracy or of the weakness of the 
American system, which jeopardized and discredited US foreign policy? 
Did international opposition to the war hinder Nixon’s efforts to achieve 
“peace with honor” and make full use of the US military to support his 
diplomatic initiatives? Or, on the contrary, did it prevent escalation and 
even greater bloodshed by denouncing the “immorality” of the conflict? 
In short, under what circumstances did the January 1973 peace agreement 
come about?

Three major milestones marked Nixon’s relationship with Vietnam, 
the rest of Indochina, and Southeast Asia generally between 1969 and 1973. 
Although Nixon did not have a “secret plan” to end the war in Vietnam 
when he took office, he gradually put a strategy in place. In this respect, 1969 
was a year of trial and error, of failure and deadlock. Certainly, important 
processes were underway, such as Vietnamization and secret negotiations, 
though the latter were, at the time, largely unproductive. Subsequently, 
Vietnamese communist policymakers would claim that in initiating the 
phased withdrawal of their forces in 1969, the Americans in fact weakened 
their bargaining position. Thus, by the turn of the new decade, the United 
States remained unable to achieve “peace with honor.” To overcome these 
aporias, Nixon, assisted by National Security Advisor Henry Kissinger, tried 
to move from the local to the global, transposing and adapting his strategy 
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in the broader context of the opening up of China and détente with the 
Soviet Union, two initiatives that, in Kissinger’s words, restored Southeast 
Asia to its true scale: that of a “small peninsula at the end of a huge con-
tinent.” But this so-called triangular diplomacy still failed to end the war. 
Therefore, Nixon redoubled the military pressure on Hanoi in 1972 until 
reaching a peace agreement that failed to deliver the peace it promised. To 
what extent was all this a cowardly “decent interval” snatched by the United 
States before the inevitable collapse of Saigon, Phnom Penh, and Vientiane? 
Or was it proof of a real and credible will to maintain the political status quo 
in the region?

Historians Go to War

“History will treat me fairly. Historians probably won’t, because most histo-
rians are on the left,” stated Richard Nixon on Meet the Press in 1988.1 Nixon, 
as well as Kissinger, did not rely on leftist historians to write the history of 
the end of the Vietnam War. Their own memoirs, books, interviews, and 
articles abundantly presented their versions of the end of the war. In No More 
Vietnams, to illustrate, Nixon argued that the United States lost the war in 
Southeast Asia on the political front only, not the military one. He attributed 
the political defeat to the media and especially to the peace movement, 
which he described as variously “misguided, well-meaning, and malicious.”2 
For Nixon, the peace movement was the deciding factor in prolonging the 
war.3 Kissinger, for his part, emphasized the importance of public opin-
ion on the course of military operations, as well as on the war’s political 
dynamics. He drew a comparison with French President Charles de Gaulle’s 
management of the Algerian War. The United States was faced with the 
same problem de Gaulle confronted: withdrawing by political choice, not 
by defeat. However, the nature of the opposition to the leaders was quite 
different in France and in the United States. In the first case, de Gaulle was 
faced with hardliners who demanded victory. This gave him some leeway 
with the Algerian Front de Libération Nationale (FLN), since any alternative 
to Charles de Gaulle would have been worse for the rebels. In the United 
States, on the other hand, the opposition Nixon and Kissinger faced came 

	1	 Richard Nixon, In the Arena: A Memoir of Victory, Defeat and Renewal (New York, 1990), 75.
	2	 Richard Nixon, Plus jamais de Vietnams (Paris, 1985), 17.
	3	 Stephen Ambrose, Nixon: The Triumph of a Politician, 1962–1972 (New York, 1989), 109; 
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from those who wanted a quicker, even immediate, withdrawal. This major 
distinction ruined, for Kissinger, any prospects for successful bargaining with 
Hanoi. For this reason, Kissinger considered it “a real political tour de force” 
to have been able to persevere with disengagement over four years and “to 
have achieved a solution of compromise and balance of power, however 
precarious, in Vietnam.”4

Such theses were defended by not only Nixon and Kissinger. Several mem-
bers of their administration, who at the time did not always agree with the 
two men, endorsed their stance. Alexander Haig, for example, said in retro-
spect that he was “absolutely, categorically convinced that if we had done in 
1969 what we did in 1972, the war would have ended, we would have got 
our prisoners back, and our objectives would have been achieved.”5 Former 
Secretary of Defense and architect of Vietnamization Melvin Laird attacked 
in Foreign Affairs “the revisionist historians” for quite conveniently forgetting 
that the United States had not lost the war when it pulled out of Vietnam in 
1973. “In fact, we grabbed defeat from the jaws of victory two years later when 
Congress cut off the funding for South Vietnam that had allowed it to con-
tinue to fight on its own.”6

This version of events has been challenged by several historians, including 
Marilyn B. Young, Tom Wells, George C. Herring, and Jeffrey Kimball.7 In 
Nixon’s Vietnam War, Kimball accused Nixon of having distorted the debate 
regarding the causes for, meaning of, and end of the war.8 He suggested in 
veiled terms that Nixon was on the edge of actual madness at the time the 
war ended.9 He concluded, first, that the tragedy of the Vietnam War was 
that it was “a wrong war, in the wrong place, and against the wrong enemy” 
and, second, that Nixon and Kissinger’s version of the end of the war was 
deeply ideological and aimed at exonerating them.10 Historian Pierre Asselin 

	 4	 Ibid., 311.
	 5	 As quoted in Larry Berman, No Peace, No Honor: Nixon, Kissinger and Betrayal in Vietnam 

(New York, 2002), 40–2, 57.
	6	 Melvin Laird, “Iraq: Learning the Lessons of Vietnam,” Foreign Affairs 84 (6) (November/

December 2005), 25.
	 7	 Marilyn B. Young, The Vietnam Wars, 1945–1990 (New York, 1991); Tom Wells, The 

War Within: America’s Battle over Vietnam (Berkeley and Los Angeles, 1994); George C. 
Herring, America’s Longest War: The United States and Vietnam, 1950–1975, 4th ed. (Boston, 
[1979] 2002); Jeffrey Kimball, Nixon’s Vietnam War (Lawrence, KS, 1998), 38, and The 
Vietnam War Files: Uncovering the Secret History of Nixon-Era Strategy (Lawrence, KS, 
2004).

	8	 Kimball, Nixon’s Vietnam War, x.
	9	 Ibid. See also 12–15, where Kimball refers to the writings of “psychohistorians” on 

Nixon.
	10	 Ibid., 302 and x.
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has disputed some of Kimball’s claims. “Ironically,” he writes, “Kimball’s 
characterization of Nixon as an angry and impulsive man who may have had 
some sort of personality disorder runs contrary to what documentary evi-
dence suggests, namely, that Nixon and Kissinger’s Vietnam policies were 
products of lengthy deliberations, careful calculations, and realistic consider-
ations.”11 Lien-Hang T. Nguyen and Larry Berman offer a radically different 
angle of criticism.12

In Search of a Strategy

When Nixon took office, ending the Vietnam War was his priority.13 He 
had campaigned on the theme of “peace with honor,” implying that he had 
a secret plan to end the war, a plan he could not yet reveal unless he made 
it invalid. He promised to end the war within six months. The electoral 
promises and objectives were very optimistic, given the then-current cat-
astrophic situation of the war. In January 1969, 540,000 American troops 
were in Vietnam; more than 30,000 of them had already died, including 
14,500 in 1968 alone. The cost of the war reached $30 billion in fiscal year 
1969. Prospects for the future were bleak. It soon became clear that the 
Nixon administration was caught between a rock and a hard place. On 
the one hand, Nixon and his transition team quickly rejected the option 
of immediate military escalation, whether it was a massive resumption of 
bombing, a threatened invasion of the North, or, most importantly, the two 
decisive strikes that could have led to a military victory: the destruction 
of the North’s levee system, which Nixon said would have led to flooding 
“causing the deaths of hundreds of thousands of people,” or the use of tac-
tical nuclear weapons. Both options, he wrote later, “would have caused 
such an uproar at home and abroad that they would have given my term in 
office the worst possible start.”14

	11	 Pierre Asselin, “Kimball’s Vietnam War,” Diplomatic History 30 (1) (January 2006), 164; 
Pierre Asselin, Vietnam’s American War: A History (New York, 2018).

	12	 Lien-Hang T. Nguyen, Hanoi’s War: An International History of the War for Peace in 
Vietnam (Chapel Hill, NC, 2012); Berman, No Peace, No Honor.

	13	 Notes of the President’s Meeting with the President-Elect Richard Nixon, Washington, 
November 11, 1968; present at the meeting were: the president, President-elect Richard 
Nixon, Secretary Dean Rusk, Secretary Clark Clifford, General Earle Wheeler, Director 
Richard Helms, W. W. Rostow, Foreign Relations of the United States, 1964–1968 (hereafter 
cited as FRUS with year), vol. VII, Vietnam, September 1968–January 1969 (Washington, 
DC, 2003), 211.

	14	 Nixon, Memoirs of Richard Nixon, 347.
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Withdrawal from Vietnam at once, which would have appeased the 
war’s opponents, offered hope for the return of prisoners of war (POWs), 
and shifted the blame for the war on the Democrats, was also rejected by 
Nixon. It would have resulted in the abandonment of 17 million Vietnamese 
in the South and ruined the credibility of the United States vis-à-vis its other 
allies.15 Early on, in fact from the transition period, the Nixon administration 
embarked on a course not unlike that of the previous administration: there 
would be no additional troops sent to Vietnam; President Lyndon Johnson’s 
cessation of bombing of the North would be respected; and the Paris nego-
tiations would continue. According to Robert Schulzinger, Nixon’s policy 
toward Vietnam in 1969 contrasted sharply with the rest of his foreign pol-
icy, generally innovative and dynamic, which brought him the support of 
Congress.16

Did that mean Nixon did not have an original policy to implement in 
Vietnam, and no “secret plan” to apply? Not really. Nixon had a strat-
egy, which was gradually put in place throughout 1969. First, there was 
the element of coercion, illustrated by the bombing of Cambodia, which 
began on March 18, 1969 under the code name MENU and continued 
until April 1970. Although revealed on May 9, 1969 by a New York Times 
journalist, William Beecher, the secrecy of the operations was as much 
a result of Nixon and Kissinger’s taste for clandestine operations as of 
the need not to stir up reactions on American soil.17 Second, no doubt 
overestimating Soviet influence in Hanoi, Nixon initially intended to put 
pressure on Moscow by connecting any further progress in bilateral rela-
tions between the two superpowers to Moscow’s assistance in solving the 
Vietnamese conflict. He felt Sino-Soviet tensions could serve as another 

	15	 Ibid., 348. See also Memorandum of Conversation between Secretary of State 
Rogers and the Former Head of Delegation to the Paris Peace Talks on Vietnam 
(Harriman), Washington, January 21, 1969; Memorandum from the President’s 
Assistant for National Security Affairs to President Nixon, Washington, January 
24, 1969, subject: NSC Meeting of January 25 on Vietnam and Minutes of National 
Security Council Meeting, Washington, January 25, 1969, FRUS, 1964–1968, vol. VII, 
3, 8, and 10.

	16	 Robert D. Schulzinger, “Richard Nixon, Congress and the War in Vietnam, 1969–1974,” 
in Randall B. Woods (ed.), Vietnam and the American Political Tradition (Cambridge, 
2009), 282.

	17	 Memorandum from the President’s Assistant for National Security Affairs to President 
Nixon, Washington, February 19, 1969, subject: Consideration of B-52 Options against 
COSVN B-52 Headquarters; Memorandum from the President’s Assistant for National 
Security Affairs to Secretary of Defense Laird, Washington, February 22, 1969, FRUS, 
1969–1976, vol. VI, Vietnam, January 1969–July 1970, 22, 23.
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incentive for Moscow to indulge him. After Hanoi responded favorably 
to President Johnson’s proposal to open peace negotiations in Paris in 
April 1968, Beijing was livid. Its stance was that the United States could 
only suffer a military defeat in Vietnam, coupled with humiliation. There 
could be no negotiations. The Soviet Union, on the other hand, supported 
Hanoi’s decision to diplomatically engage the Americans. This disagree-
ment fueled the Sino-Soviet dispute. After Moscow crushed the Prague 
Spring in 1968, the Chinese felt that they could be the next victims of the 
“Brezhnev Doctrine” and accused Moscow of “socialist imperialism.” One 
of the major fears of China, then in the throes of the Cultural Revolution, 
was American–Soviet collusion directed against it. The Paris negotiations 
and the apparent Soviet–Vietnamese rapprochement, in short, aggravated 
China’s isolation. It was only in November 1968 that, not without reluc-
tance, Mao resolved, when receiving Democratic Republic of Vietnam 
(DRVN) Premier Pha ̣m Va ̆n Đồng, to recognize the negotiations as part 
of Hanoi’s strategy of “negotiating while fighting.” The Americans were 
aware of all this. During a meeting with Soviet Ambassador to the United 
States Anatoly Dobrynin on June 11, 1969, Kissinger pointed out that 85 
percent of Hanoi’s military resources came from the USSR.18 However, 
even if they had wished for it, the Soviets were not really in a position to 
impose an ultimatum on Hanoi.

In March 1969, Nixon’s strategy expanded to incorporate the idea of 
“de-Americanizing” or rather “Vietnamizing” the conflict.19 Nixon intended 
to find a way that would allow him to both “de-Americanize” the conflict 
and push Hanoi to negotiate faster. As a matter of fact, as the negotiations 
with the DRVN would amply demonstrate, these two proposals were anti-
thetical. Unless the South Vietnamese Army could undergo proper training, 
be well-equipped, and be ready to take the place of the United States, the 
“de-Americanization” process would surely weaken the US position, an intrin-
sic flaw of the strategy that Kissinger denounced from the start.20 Nixon spoke 

	18	 Memorandum for the President from Henry A. Kissinger, subject: Memorandum of 
Conversation with Ambassador Dobrynin, June 11, 1969, NPMP, NSC Files Dobrynin/
Kissinger 1969 (Part II), Box 489, Digital National Security Archive (hereafter cited as 
DNSA), Collection: Kissinger Transcripts, 2.

	19	 Minutes of National Security Council Meeting, Washington, March 28, 1969, FRUS, 
1969–1976, vol. VI, 49.

	20	 Opposition against Kissinger’s politics increased exponentially from there on. See 
Memorandum for the President from Henry A. Kissinger, subject: Alternative Vietnam 
Strategies, July 20, 1970, NPMP, NSC Institutional “H” Files, NSC Meetings, Box H-028, 
Folder NSC Meeting Vietnam. Ceasefire. Diplomatic Initiatives [1 of 3].
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of the need to “de-Americanize” the war while Melvin Laird instead suggested 
the term “Vietnamization,” which got the president’s approval.21 An inexorable 
process had been set in motion: that of the unilateral withdrawal of the United 
States from Vietnam.

Next, Nixon counted on the secret talks with Hanoi brokered with the 
help of the former French delegate general there, Jean Sainteny, whose 
wife was a former student of Kissinger.22 In July, Nixon had secretly writ-
ten to Hồ Chí Minh to reaffirm “in all solemnity his desire to work for a 
just peace.”23 On August 4, 1969, the first secret meeting took place between 
Kissinger and DRVN envoy Xuân Thủy in a Paris suburb.24 On August 25, 
Hồ Chí Minh’s reply to Nixon’s letter arrived. It made clear there would be 
no great breakthrough. While Nixon had begun his letter with “Dear Mr. 
President,” Hồ Chí Minh did not return the courtesy and began with “Mr. 
President.” In substance, Hồ Chí Minh merely denounced the “American 
aggression against his people, violating their national rights” and repeated 
the demands of Hanoi’s emissary in Paris, namely a unilateral withdrawal by 
the United States.25

In his memoirs, Nixon writes that as soon as he received Hồ Chí Minh’s 
letter, he knew that he “had to prepare myself for the tremendous criticism 
and pressure that comes with stepping up the war.” While pursuing Laird’s 
Vietnamization policy, Nixon simultaneously hoped to launch the “mad 
bomber strategy” to force the North Vietnamese into submission. According 
to White House Chief of Staff H. R. Haldeman, Nixon had considered such a 
strategy during a walk on a beach in 1968: 

	21	 Minutes of National Security Council Meeting, Washington, March 28, 1969, FRUS, 
1969–1976, vol. VI, 49.

	22	 The issue of secret contacts had been raised in March during talks between Secretary of 
State Rogers and Soviet Ambassador Dobrynin, but Kissinger opposed it, arguing that 
such talks could not take place in the aftermath of the attacks on the Southern cities. 
Memorandum from the President’s Assistant for National Security Affairs to President 
Nixon, Washington, March 10, 1969, subject: Dobrynin–Rogers Conversation on the 
Paris Negotiations, FRUS, 1969–1976, vol. VI, 35.

	23	 Nixon’s letter, like Hồ Chí Minh’s reply, was only made public during the president’s 
speech on November 3, 1969. “Letters of the President and President Hồ Chí Minh of 
the Democratic Republic of Vietnam,” November 3, 1969, Public Papers of the President, 
1974, 426.

	24	 Memorandum for the President from Henry A. Kissinger, Washington, August 6, 
1969, subject: Meeting in Paris with North Vietnamese, attachment: Memorandum 
of Conversation, Paris, August 4, 1969, participants: Dr. Henry A. Kissinger, Major 
General Vernon Walters, Mr. William A. K. Lake, Xuân Thủy, Mai Văn Bộ, Vietnamese 
Notetaker, Vietnamese Interpreter, FRUS, 1969–1976, vol. VI, 106.

	25	 “Letters of the President and President Hồ Chí Minh of the Democratic Republic of 
Vietnam,” November 3, 1969, Public Papers of the President, 1974, 426.
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I call it the Madman Theory, Bob. I want the North Vietnamese to believe 
I’ve reached the point where I might do anything to stop the war. We’ll just 
slip the word to them that, “for God’s sake, you know Nixon is obsessed 
about communism. We can’t restrain him when he’s angry – and he has his 
hand on the nuclear button” and Hồ Chí Minh himself will be in Paris in two 
days begging for peace.26

Kissinger intended to give weight to Nixon’s “mad bomber strategy” and, in 
any event, use it as a military tool to help the negotiations with the North. 
For these purposes, he created the “September Group” mandated to study 
the possibility of military action to have a “maximum impact on the enemy” 
in order to bring the war to a “rapid conclusion.” It was before this group 
that Kissinger is said to have stated that “I refuse to believe that a small 
fourth-rate country like Vietnam does not have a breaking point. … It will be 
the mission of this group to study the option of a savage and decisive strike 
against North Vietnam. You will begin your work without preconceived 
ideas.”27 The group did not work in uncharted waters. Since the spring, 
General Earl Wheeler, chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS), and his 
staff had been working on one such plan called Duck Hook. On September 
9, Kissinger met with Wheeler before discussing the plan with the president. 
Kissinger had asked Wheeler to keep this plan a secret, that is, strictly limited 
to a few military personnel and excluding the secretary of defense.28 The 
plan was officially presented to Nixon on October 2. Duck Hook consisted of 
an intensive attack on North Vietnam concentrated over four days, a period 
that could be extended, depending on weather conditions. Several similar 
series of attacks would then follow, after a pause to assess the results of the 
first attack and give the North Vietnamese an opportunity to reformulate 
their peace proposals. The DRVN’s deep-water ports would be mined to 
suffocate the country. Rail links to China would be rendered impassable. 
Twenty-nine targets were identified: five complexes in the Hanoi metropol-
itan area; six power plants; four airports; three factories; five storage areas 
for high value-added materials and transport equipment; three bridges; two 
railroads; and, last but certainly not least, the dike system in the Red River 
Delta.29 The draft plan came with a draft speech that the president would 

	27	 Kimball, Nixon’s Vietnam War, 163.
	28	 Memorandum Haig to Kissinger, subject: Items to Discuss with the President, 

September 9, 1969, in Kimball, The Vietnam War Files, 101.
	29	 Memorandum from the President’s Assistant for National Security Affairs to President 

Nixon, Washington, October 2, 1969, subject: Contingency Military Operations against 

	26	 Harry Robins Haldeman, The Ends of Power (New York, 1978), 82–3.
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have given to the American nation on November 3 to reveal the existence of 
secret negotiations with Hanoi, their failure, and announcing the beginning 
of Duck Hook operations.30 Nixon wavered between wanting to take a hard 
line on Hanoi and Moscow, and considering domestic parameters that made 
it difficult to implement Duck Hook.

Ultimately, Nixon gave up on Duck Hook, probably at the end of October. 
He never even attempted to introduce it to his National Security Council 
(NSC). Instead of delivering the speech prepared by the “September Group” 
in which he was to announce the start of the “decisive” strikes against the 
North,31 he addressed the American people, asking for their support, on 
November 3, 1969, in the famous “Silent Majority” speech.32 In reality, Nixon 
had acted under political duress, caught in a vice between two important 
demonstrations against the Vietnam War: on October 15, Moratorium Day, 
and November 13–15, when new mass demonstrations were announced. 
Nixon had arguably won a victory over his domestic opponents with the 
November 3 speech, but it was a Pyrrhic victory. In the aftermath of the 
“November days” (Mobilization against the War), his own advisor, Daniel 
Patrick Moynihan, acknowledged that “white middle-class youth” had 
appeared calm and level-headed in their opposition to the war, and, as a 
result, the Administration’s case against them as unpatriotic would be short-
lived.33 Beyond that, Nixon had appeared like a paper tiger to the Soviets and 
the North Vietnamese. The nuclear alert he had decided to launch to panic 
them had left them unmoved.34 So, the war would continue. In this sense, 
the fall of 1969 was a critical turning point in Nixon’s conduct of the war. All 
hopes for peace in the short term were dashed. The president’s strategy from 
then on would be to take a long-term view.

	30	 “Draft of a Presidential Speech,” 2nd Draft, September 27, 1969, in Kimball, The Vietnam 
War Files, 105.

	31	 Memorandum for the President from Henry A. Kissinger, subject: Contingency Military 
Operations against North Vietnam, October 2, 1969, attachment G: The President’s 
Copy, Top Secret/Sensitive, 4th Draft, October 2, 1969, Draft of a Presidential 
Speech, NPMP, NSC Files, Subject Files, Box 89, Folder 2, Top Secret/Sensitive Vietnam 
Contingency Planning, HAK.

	32	 Discussions of November 3, 1969, speech; Handwritten Notes, NPMP, White House 
Special Files, President’s Personal Files, Box 53, November 3, 1969, VN Speech [5 of 5]. 
DNSA, Collection: US Policy in the Vietnam War, 1969–75.

	33	 David E. Schmitz, Richard Nixon and the Vietnam War: The End of the American Century 
(New York, 2014), 65–6.

North Vietnam; Memorandum from the President’s Assistant for National Security 
Affairs to President Nixon, Washington, undated, subject: JCS Concept for Air and 
Naval Operations against North Vietnam, FRUS, 1969–1976, vol. VI, 129 and 134.

	34	 See William Burr and Jeffrey P. Kimball, Nixon’s Nuclear Specter: The Secret Alert of 1969, 
Madman Diplomacy, and the Vietnam War (Lawrence, KS, 2015).
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Negotiating while Widening the War

In early 1970, Nixon ordered B-52 strikes on communist supply lines in north-
ern Laos. These particularly violent bombings were supposed to prevent a 
massive offensive in the spring while demonstrating Nixon’s resoluteness to 
achieve “peace with honor.” Nixon and Kissinger simultaneously stepped up 
the war in Cambodia. The ruler there, Norodom Sihanouk, had practiced a 
delicate balancing act, seeking to alienate neither the South Vietnamese and 
their American allies nor the National Front for the Liberation of Southern 
Vietnam (NLF, or Viet Cong) and their North Vietnamese and Chinese allies. 
Thus, the NLF was supplied from the Cambodian port of Kampong Som 
(Sihanoukville) and, thanks to Chinese aid, bought part of the Cambodian 
rice crop. Sihanouk knew that North Vietnamese units were stationed on his 
territory, since Cambodia was crossed by the Hồ Chí Minh Trail. The situa-
tion started to deteriorate when local Cambodian communists – the Khmer 

Figure 1.1  Richard Nixon speaking with soldiers at Dı ̃ An Base Camp during his only 
visit to South Vietnam (July 30, 1969).
Source: Michael Ochs Archives / Stringer / Michael Ochs Archives / Getty Images.
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Rouge – launched an insurgency against the Cambodian regime in 1968. 
Sihanouk responded with airstrikes on communist bases belonging to both 
the Khmer Rouge and the North Vietnamese. By early 1970, Sihanouk’s posi-
tion had become untenable. On March 18, while Sihanouk was in Moscow, 
General Lon Nol and royal family member Sirik Matak, with the consent of 
parliament, issued a decree that announced Sihanouk’s removal. The new 
government ordered the closure of the port of Sihanoukville to ships supply-
ing the NLF and attempted to hinder traffic on the Cambodian portion of the 
Hồ Chí Minh Trail.

Lon Nol’s coup took the Americans by surprise. There is no evidence that 
Washington had a hand in it. However, it did not take long before Nixon 
ordered increased support for the new regime. The arrival in power of Lon 
Nol and his firm attitude toward the North Vietnamese (tainted, it is true, 
by a notorious reputation for corruption, if not incompetence) offered the 
possibility of loosening the stranglehold on South Vietnam. By the time of 
the coup, Nixon felt that B-52 bombings from Guam were no longer enough: 
an incursion into Cambodia was necessary to disrupt Vietnamese communist 
sanctuaries. The president announced his decision on April 30 from the Oval 
Office. For Nixon, Cambodia had become a top priority, the place where US 
foreign policy could succeed or fall apart. As a sign of his immense interest in 
the region, he even ordered that he not be bothered with other issues, includ-
ing the political situation in Chile.

Operation Lam Sơn 719, in Laos, was conducted by Vietnamese troops 
beginning February 8, 1971. It turned into a debacle as fighters of the South’s 
army, the Army of the Republic of Vietnam (ARVN), were evacuated in a 
hurry by US Army helicopters. Kissinger admitted in his memoirs that “the 
operation, conceived in doubt and faced with scepticism, continued in con-
fusion.”35 There was no confusion, however, as to the consequences of the 
offensive on the course of the war. On May 14, 1971, the Hanoi Politburo 
made the decision to launch an offensive in the spring of the following year. 
Not only were the North Vietnamese convinced of their superiority over the 
army of the South, but public opinion in the United States seemed to be con-
vinced of the impossibility of a military victory in Indochina. In these condi-
tions, the North Vietnamese Politburo confirmed in July its intention, still 
secret, to take advantage of the prospects offered by 1972, an election year in 
the United States.

	35	 Henry Kissinger, A la Maison Blanche (Paris, 1979), 1056.
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Reversal of Alliances?

At the very moment, in 1971, when Hanoi prepared to deliver what it hoped 
would be the final blow to its enemies, profound changes were taking place 
within the international system. A twofold process was at work, which de facto 
stood to undermine the DRVN’s position and strengthen that of the United 
States: Sino-American rapprochement, on the one hand, and a growing divide 
between Beijing and Hanoi, on the other. Sino-American rapprochement was 
delayed for a while by the American intervention in Cambodia in 1970, but it 
became a reality in the spring of 1971. On April 21 of that year, Zhou Enlai sent 
an official letter of invitation to the American president, which Nixon answered 
favorably, via Pakistan. Upon receiving Zhou’s letter, Kissinger told Nixon: “If 
we make this deal, we will end the Vietnam War this year. The mere existence 
of these contacts, in and of itself, guarantees it.”36 He was not wrong. In July 
1971, Beijing announced that Nixon would visit China the following year.

The “week that changed the world,” as Nixon himself called his February 
1972 visit to China, changed the landscape of the Vietnam conflict consider-
ably. Although Beijing had a nuanced, even ambivalent policy regarding its 
involvement in the Vietnam War, Hanoi harbored deep apprehensions about 
Nixon’s historic trip. Certainly, since the beginning of the struggle against 
the Americans, North Vietnam had benefited from the competition between 
China and the Soviet Union, each communist giant refusing to allow the 
other to have a monopoly on assisting in an anti-imperialist struggle. Zhou 
Enlai told his American interlocutors that China’s military aid to Vietnam 
would continue and that it was in any case the minimum necessary to avoid 
a deterioration of relations with Hanoi. Zhou expressed his dissatisfaction 
with the intensity of military cooperation between Hanoi and Moscow. (Yet 
China had authorized the transfer of Soviet weapons to the DRVN through 
its territory.) All in all, the Americans left Beijing convinced that China would 
place its rapprochement with the United States above its support for Hanoi. 
The Shanghai Communiqué, containing a clause opposing the efforts of any 
country or group of countries to dominate the Asia–Pacific sphere, consti-
tuted an implicit condemnation of Soviet intentions, as well as of Moscow’s 
alliance with the DRVN. Nixon’s China visit removed one of the key reasons 
for US intervention in the Vietnam War: to isolate China and stem the spread 
of Maoism.37

	36	 As quoted in Lorenz M. Lüthi, “Beyond Betrayal: Beijing, Moscow and the Paris 
Negotiations, 1971–1973,” Journal of Cold War Studies 11 (1) (winter 2009), 64.

	37	 Qiang Zhai, China and the Vietnam Wars, 1950–1975 (Chapel Hill, NC, 2000), 199–201.
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From this point on, China granted more latitude to US actions in Vietnam, 
although its support for Hanoi did not waver. In 1968, when Hanoi had entered 
into negotiations with the United States, China had reduced its military assis-
tance to show its disapproval. Four years later, Beijing increased its military 
assistance as an incentive to negotiate. Appearances were deceptive, however. 
The increase in Chinese military aid was only a consolation prize offered by 
Beijing to Hanoi, a sort of meager compensation for Beijing’s rapprochement 
with the United States, which constituted a clear diplomatic defeat for the 
North Vietnamese. Still, for the Americans, the effort paid tangible dividends. 
Thanks to triangular diplomacy, a Kissinger aide later wrote, the United States 
was “at last free to use all our forces to end the war.” With a touch of exag-
geration, the phrase was accurate.38 Since President Johnson had suspended 
sustained bombings in November 1968, North Vietnam had remained virtu-
ally free of airstrikes. During an NSC meeting on May 8, 1972, in which the 
president decided on the mining of Hải Phòng and bombing in the Hanoi area, 
his close advisor, Treasury Secretary John Connally, said in support of these 
actions: “It is inconceivable to me that we have fought this war without inflict-
ing damage on the aggressor. The aggressor has a sanctuary.”39

On March 30, 1972, Hanoi launched its so-called Spring or Easter Offensive, 
as three divisions, supported by three hundred tanks and Soviet-made 130mm 
recoilless guns, moved into South Vietnam from bases in North Vietnam, 
Cambodia, and Laos. Of the DRVN’s thirteen divisions, twelve would even-
tually be involved in the operation. It was a trident attack, on almost every 
possible front. It was also a conventional, army-on-army attack that broke 
with the guerrilla warfare structure that had characterized the conflict until 
then. For these two reasons, it quickly became apparent that that offensive 
might determine the outcome of the war.

Nixon was now determined not to hold back any longer. “We must punish 
the enemy in ways that he will really hurt at this time,” he wrote to Kissinger. 
“I intend to stop at nothing to bring the enemy to his knees.”40 Operation 
Linebacker, in at least two respects, was an opportunity to reuse old strategies 

	38	 As quoted in Mark Clodfelter, The Limits of Air Power: The American Bombing of North 
Vietnam (Lincoln, 2006), 180.

	39	 Memorandum for the President’s Files, subject: National Security Council Meeting, 
Monday, May 8, 1972, 9:00 a.m. – 12:20 p.m., participants: President Nixon, Vice President 
Agnew, Secretary of State Rogers, Secretary of Defense Laird, Secretary of Treasury 
Connally, Director of Central Intelligence Helms, Director of Office of Emergency 
Preparedness, Lincoln, Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, Kissinger, 
President’s Press Secretary Ziegler, Mr. John Negroponte, NSC Staff (Notetaker), NPMP, 
NSC Files, Box 998, Haig Memcons, January–December 1972 [2 of 3], 15.

	40	 As quoted in Wells, The War Within, 547.
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and plans. First, as in the case of Rolling Thunder, the objective was to attack 
military targets to break the North’s military capabilities. The fundamental 
difference with Rolling Thunder was that the hesitations, restrictions, or 
pauses that had characterized the earlier campaign would be lifted. Nixon 
summarized his thinking in a memorandum to Kissinger on May 10:

We have the power to destroy the war-making capacity [of North Vietnam]. 
The only question is whether we have the will to use that power. What dis-
tinguishes me from Johnson is that I have the will in spades. If we now fail it 
will be because the bureaucrats and the bureaucracy and particularly those 
in the Defense Department, who will of course be vigorously assisted by 
their allies in State, will find ways to erode the strong decisive action I have 
indicated we are going to take. For once, I want the military and I want the 
NSC staff to come up with some ideas on their own which will recommend 
action which is very strong, threatening, and effective.41

Launched on May 10, Operation Linebacker started under the name Rolling 
Thunder Alpha and lasted until October 22, 1972. It consisted of more than 
9,000 sorties (air missions) during which 17,876 bombs were dropped, or 
approximately 150,000 tons of explosive. This represented a quarter of the ton-
nage that had been dropped in three years of Operation Rolling Thunder.42 
B-52 strategic bombers went into action on June 8 and carried out an average 
of thirty flights daily until October. An important technical innovation was 
the use of so-called smart bombs, guided by laser and dropped by F-4 and 
F-111 aircraft. In his memoirs, Kissinger described the decisions of May 1972 as 
“one of the finest hours of the Nixon presidency.”43 Following the onset of the 
bombing, a surprised DRVN official noted that “Nixon managed to do in ten 
days what Johnson had taken two years to accomplish.”44

The American president’s boldness paid off. Linebacker shattered the com-
munist offensive, which for all intents and purposes ended in June. By then, 
the North Vietnamese troop presence below the 17th parallel had grown con-
siderably, accentuating a “leopard-skin” situation in the South, but neither 
Huê  ́nor An Lộc had fallen, and a counteroffensive was underway in Quảng 
Tri,̣ which was retaken by ARVN forces in early September.45 A ranking com-
munist official felt that as the summer progressed it became apparent that the 

	41	 Kissinger, A la Maison Blanche, 1255.
	42	 Kimball, Nixon’s Vietnam War, 324.
	43	 Kissinger, A la Maison Blanche, 1235.
	44	 As quoted in Asselin, Vietnam’s American War, 52.
	45	 Memorandum, June 21, 1972, subject: How Will the Present Offensive End? How Will 

the War End? (from Bunker, Ellsworth), NPMP, NSC Files, NSC Series, Alexander M. Haig 
Special File, Box 1016, Haig Trip to Vietnam June 29–July 4, 1972 [2 of 3], 2.
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losses of the North and its NLF allies were prodigious and that territorial gains 
could not be held. Questioned by members of the French Communist Party in 
the aftermath of all this, Hanoi Politburo member Lê Đức Thọ explained that 
Hanoi had been caught completely off guard by the firmness of Washington’s 
military response: “We had considered this possibility, but we finally dismissed 
it as impossible during the year of trips to Beijing and Moscow and the pres-
idential elections.”46 Adding insult to injury for Hanoi, the Chinese and the 
Soviets themselves reacted only mildly to Nixon’s dramatic escalation of the 
air war. In Thọ’s view, underestimating Nixon had been “a mistake, but not a 
catastrophic one.” To repair it, Hanoi had to slow the pace of military opera-
tions and, to achieve a “political victory,” intensify diplomatic operations. The 
military stalemate, the impossibility of winning by arms, and the determina-
tion of the North Vietnamese to reunite the peninsula under their rule forced 
them to consider this prospect as possibly inevitable.

Kissinger met with Lê Đức Tho ̣ in France on three separate occasions 
between July 19 and August 14, 1972. At each meeting, Kissinger found his 
interlocutor in a much better mood and far more open to a negotiated solution 
than previously. Thọ no longer insisted on a halt to American bombings of 
the North before the finalization of an agreement; he merely mentioned that 
such a gesture would facilitate the peace process.47 Kissinger proposed a four-
month ceasefire, to be overseen by an international commission. During 
this time, a final settlement would be negotiated between and among the 
parties. An American withdrawal would come as soon as the commission 
was formed. Northern forces were to remain in place in the South, indefi-
nitely. On July 19, during the longest negotiating session ever held – lasting 
six and a half hours – Thọ gave up the demand to see Thiệu’s regime deposed. 
He also dropped the demand for a deadline for the withdrawal of American 
forces. However, he persisted in demanding a coalition government, not 
just a tripartite election commission.48 This last demand frustrated Nixon, 

	46	 As quoted in Stephen P. Randolph, Powerful and Brutal Weapons: Nixon, Kissinger, and the 
Easter Offensive (Cambridge, MA, 2007), 25.

	47	 Top Secret Cable, WHS208, July 21, 1972, Gerald Ford Presidential Library, Gerald 
Ford Papers, National Security Advisor, Saigon Embassy Files–Graham Martin, Box 
1, Washington to Saigon, 2/21/72 to 7/23/72, 3; Memorandum for the President from 
Henry A. Kissinger, subject: My July 19 Meeting with the North Vietnamese, June 20, 
1972, NPMP, NSC Files, Box 855, Camp David, vol. XIV.

	48	 Memorandum of Conversation, Lê Đức Thọ, Special Advisor to the North Vietnamese 
Delegation at the Paris Peace Talks, Xuân Thủy, Minister and Head of North Vietnamese 
Delegation to the Paris Peace Talks, Phan Hien, Member of North Vietnamese Delegation 
to the Paris Peace Talks, Nguyen Dinh Phuong, Interpreter, Two Notetakers, Henry A. 
Kissinger, Assistant to the President for National Security Affairs, Winston Lord, NSC 
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who suddenly questioned the usefulness of negotiations. Unlike Kissinger, 
the president came to believe that the United States would negotiate from a 
stronger position after the upcoming November 1972 presidential elections. 
Nevertheless, he allowed Kissinger to continue the negotiations until then.

Operation Linebacker continued despite the resumption of peace talks. 
Nixon refused to repeat the mistakes of his predecessor, who had repeat-
edly paused the strikes in hopes that that would encourage Hanoi to nego-
tiate earnestly. Even as the meetings between Tho ̣ and Kissinger were in 
full swing, the United States intensified Linebacker operations, including in 
Route Package 6B, that is, the Hanoi area. The deployment to Thailand of 
forty-eight F-111s capable of delivering laser-guided bombs added another 
extra weapon to the American arsenal in September 1972.49

It was in this context that Kissinger and Tho ̣ reached a first tentative 
agreement. On October 8, Tho ̣ presented Kissinger with a complete 
draft agreement. Such a document had never been presented before by 
either side. Entitled “Agreement to End the War and Restore the Peace,” 
it  contained significant concessions. Most importantly, Hanoi dropped 
its demand for the removal of South Vietnamese President Nguyêñ Va ̆n 
Thiê ̣u before a ceasefire took effect and, along with that, its demands for, 
first, a coalition government and, second, a veto over the composition of 
the transitional government in the South. In return, Tho ̣ insisted on the 
establishment of an “administrative structure” called the National Council 
for National Reconciliation and Concord (NCNRC) to oversee the imple-
mentation of the agreement after the ceasefire. On October 13, in light 
of Hanoi’s flexibility in the peace talks, Nixon ordered the de-escalation 
of the bombing of the North and, a few days later, halted entirely strikes 
above the 20th parallel as a gesture of goodwill. A total halt to bombing 
of the North, Nixon insisted, would only take place after the two sides 
reached a final agreement.

After the North, the South

Kissinger subsequently described his October meeting with Lê Đức Tho ̣ at 
Gif-sur-Yvette, at the former home of painter Fernand Léger bequeathed to 
the French Communist Party, as the most moving moment of his career: 

Staff Member, John D. Negroponte, NSC Staff Member, Peter W. Rodman, NSC Staff 
Member, North Vietnamese Residence, 11 Rue Darthe, Choisy-le-Roi, Paris, July 19, 1972, 
9:52 a.m. – 4:25 p.m., NPMP, NSC Files, Box 855, Camp David, vol. XIV, 43.

	49	 Clodfelter, Limits of Airpower, 160.
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Most of my colleagues and I understood at once the significance of what we 
had just heard. I immediately asked to adjourn the meeting, and [Winston] 
Lord and I shook hands and said, “We did it.” Haig, who had served in 
Vietnam, said with emotion that we had saved the honor of the men who 
had fought, suffered, and lost their lives there. To be sure, there were still 
many unacceptable elements in Lê Đức Tho ̣’s draft. And some of my col-
leagues, such as John Negroponte, were sure to point this out during the half 
hour that followed his presentation. However, I knew that this program was 
based on a cease-fire, the withdrawal of U.S. forces, the release of prisoners, 
and an end to infiltration – that was the basic program we were offering and 
that we have called essential since 1971.50

Before returning to Washington from Paris, Kissinger jokingly but pre-
sciently told Thọ that the men were now bound to succeed, although it might 
take a little more time. At a minimum, they might succeed in uniting all the 
Vietnamese factions against the US national security advisor. To an extent, 
that is what happened. Unlike Nixon, Kissinger underestimated and miscal-
culated Thiệu’s reaction to news of the draft settlement. By then, Kissinger 
was much more eager to reach an agreement than Nixon, who still felt it was 
preferable to wait until after the upcoming elections. The president warned 
Kissinger that the agreement “could not be a forced marriage” for President 
Thiệu. As it turned out, the latter was revolted by news that an agreement 
had been reached behind his back. American emissaries in Saigon, including 
Kissinger himself, did their best to convince the South Vietnamese president 
that the deal was a good one, to no avail. At one point, Thiê ̣u confided to 
an aide that he wished he could punch Kissinger “in the teeth.”51 Seeking to 
reassure Thiê ̣u, Kissinger claimed that Washington did not seek a face-saving 
“decent interval,” that is, a short period between the time US forces left and 
Saigon inevitably collapsed; this was a “decent agreement.”52 Admittedly, 
the Americans had blundered. For example, Thiệu first found out about the 
October draft agreement not from the Americans, but through documents 
captured from the enemy. Thiệu especially opposed the idea of a reconcilia-
tion council and, above all, Hanoi’s right to keep its own troops in the South 
after a ceasefire.

Nevertheless, the mass of declassified materials attests to the very exten-
sive efforts made by the Americans to win Thiê ̣u’s consent. From this point 

	50	 Kissinger, A la Maison Blanche, 1402.
	51	 Melvin Small, The Presidency of Richard Nixon (Lawrence, KS, 1999), 90.
	52	 Henry Kissinger, Ending the Vietnam War: A History of America’s Involvement in and 

Extraction from the Vietnam War (New York, 2003), 338.
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of view, one can agree with Pierre Asselin’s analysis: if Nixon had wished 
to create nothing more than a decent interval between the withdrawal of 
US troops and the fall of the Saigon government, he would have ignored 
President Thiê ̣u’s refusal and signed a bilateral agreement with Hanoi. 
Nor would he have ordered Kissinger to resume negotiations with Hanoi 
in November and submit to Tho ̣ no fewer than sixty-nine modifications 
desired by Saigon (which Kissinger himself thought was “a major error”!). 
Thus, concluded Asselin: “Nixon and Kissinger did not seek an agreement 
that would provide them with a decent interval before the collapse of the 
South, but an agreement that gave them hope, at the very least, of maintain-
ing the status quo.”53

US–DRVN negotiations in November and early December ended in stale-
mate, leading an exasperated Kissinger to call the Vietnamese, in front of 
Nixon, “a bunch of disgusting shits” who made the Russians “look better, 
just as the Russians make the Chinese look better when it comes to respon-
sible and honest negotiation.”54 On December 14, 1972, concluding that the 
political price to be paid would be the same for high- or low-intensity air-
strikes, a vexed Nixon ordered the resumption of US bombings of the DRVN 
north of the 20th parallel. He also sanctioned the use of B-52s over Hanoi 
and Hải Phòng. The proposed campaign of renewed bombings, code-named 
Linebacker II, had two main objectives: on the one hand, to destroy the will 
of the North Vietnamese to fight, and, on the other, to demonstrate to Saigon 
that, in accordance with what had been promised on many occasions, the 
United States was determined to strike the North very severely in the event 
of noncompliance with the clauses of the agreement. Between December 18 
and 29, the “Christmas Bombing,” as the press dubbed Linebacker II, resulted 
in the dropping of approximately 15,000 tons of bombs on the North by 
B-52s, while fighter-bombers, including F-111s, dropped another 5,000 tons.55 
On December 26, while condemning the “extermination bombings,” Hanoi 
contacted Washington to resume the negotiations. The First Secretary of the 
Vietnamese Workers’ Party (VWP), Lê Duâ ̉n, later admitted that Linebacker 
II had succeeded in destroying the economic foundations of his country. On 
the American side, heavy losses, including several B-52s, made the continu-
ation of hostilities similarly unsustainable. When negotiations reopened in 
January 1973, both sides were desperate for an agreement, any agreement.

	53	 Asselin, “Kimball’s Vietnam War,” 166.
54	 Nixon, Memoirs of Richard Nixon, 733.
	55	 Kimball, Nixon’s Vietnam War, 365.
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The Paris Peace Accords

The Agreement to End the War and Restore the Peace in Vietnam was signed 
on January 27, 1973 in Paris. Fundamentally, it called for the withdrawal of 
all US forces from Vietnam, the release of all POWs, the continued presence 
of North Vietnamese troops below the 17th parallel, the preservation of the 
Saigon regime, and the resolution of all remaining political matters by the 
Vietnamese parties themselves after the ceasefire took effect. The keystone 
of this “Phony Peace” was the threat of US reintervention in the event of non-
compliance by Hanoi and its armies. The bombing of Cambodia, which con-
tinued until it was banned by Congress in August 1973, was intended as much 
to fight the communist Khmer Rouge as to demonstrate to Hanoi the costs of 
violating the agreement. None of that mattered in the end, as the agreement 
was violated before the ink on it had even had time to dry.56

In retrospect, it is necessary to underline the considerable weight of the 
internal determinants and parameters that Nixon had to consider to achieve 
his objective of “peace with honor.” Nixon’s policy was altered at crucial 
moments by various domestic constraints: in 1969, the peace movement, and 
in 1972–3, Congress. By making the choices he did in 1969, Nixon condemned 
himself to a long war. Under the conditions thus created, he then achieved 
a peace that was undoubtedly the least bad possible. However, by using the 
military tool to advance diplomacy, Nixon ended up falling, in a way, into the 
trap he had always wanted to avoid. Like Johnson, he ultimately proceeded 
to escalate gradually in Vietnam. In 1969, Duck Hook and another planned 
bombing campaign called Pruning Knife were cancelled, and Nixon then 
expanded the war into Cambodia and Laos. Linebacker was launched in 1972, 
not as an initiative, but as a reaction to the communist Spring Offensive. Prior 
to that, the Americans had chosen not to carry out preemptive strikes, in part 
so as not to alienate public opinion. It is true that, thanks to triangular diplo-
macy and Vietnamization, which in the end weakened the antiwar move-
ment, Nixon and Kissinger succeeded in creating conditions that enabled 
them to use all the conventional air firepower at their disposal. Linebacker 
II, the “December blitz,” as the press liked to call it, was the culmination of 
a gradual escalation. From this perspective, it is hardly possible to say that 
Nixon and Kissinger struck first and then negotiated. Rather, the opposite 
occurred.

	56	 See Antoine Coppolani, “La paix dans l’horreur: les États-Unis, le Cambodge et la fin de 
la guerre du Vietnam,” in Antoine Coppolani, Charles-Philippe David, and Jean-François 
Thomas (eds.), La fabrique de la paix: acteurs, processus, mémoires (Québec, 2015), 255–70.
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Therefore, one must go further than one of Pierre Asselin’s central theses. 
Asselin disputes the ironic and famous criticism of the American diplomat 
John Negroponte, for whom the United States bombed its Northern ene-
mies until they were forced to accept their own concessions. This judgment, 
Asselin wrote, reflects an ethnocentric view of American diplomatic history 
and the idea, in this case, that the United States acts and other peoples and 
nations react. This was not the case during the Vietnam War, where the 
aspirations of both Thiê ̣u and the South were taken into account. More 
generally, the United States, in many respects, including and especially in 
the conduct of military operations, reacted, and its policy was shaped by 
domestic determinants (the antiwar movement, growing opposition from 
Congress, etc.) or external ones such as Hanoi’s Spring Offensive and Thiê ̣u’s 
demands for a ceasefire agreement. In launching Linebacker II, Nixon and 
Kissinger knew that they had to reach an agreement before the new legis-
lature began, as the November elections had significantly strengthened the 
ranks of antiwar opponents in Congress. By then, ironically, the antiwar 
movement in the United States had all but disappeared. The spring 1971 mass 
demonstrations against the intervention in Laos were the last of their kind. 
But now Nixon’s foreign policy faced two other domestic determinants: the 
increasingly intractable opposition of Congress, on the one hand, and the 
Watergate scandal, on the other.

The return of the last American POW from Vietnam on March 27, 1973 
deprived Congress of a core reason to keep supporting the war. That same 
month, the United States resumed bombings on the Hồ Chí Minh Trail in 
Laos and Cambodia. Even as Nixon proclaimed that he was ready to bomb 
the North again, in the spring his legal advisor, John Dean, began to work 
with prosecutors on the Watergate case. On June 29, 1973, the appropriations 
bill passed by Congress, and then signed by a weakened Nixon, prohibited 
the use of funds to “directly or indirectly support combat activities in or 
over Cambodia, Laos, North Vietnam and South Vietnam or off the coast of 
Cambodia, Laos, North Vietnam and South Vietnam.” The Appropriations 
Act also prohibited the use of funds released by any other enactment for 
these purposes after August 15, thereby removing any credibility from 
Nixon’s threats to use force to enforce the Paris Agreement.57 Senator 
George McGovern later said that June 29 was “the happiest day of his life.”58 
Political scientists called that same day “the Bastille Day of the Congressional 

	57	 Kissinger, Ending the War in Vietnam, 472.
	58	 As quoted in Schulzinger, “Richard Nixon, Congress,” 299.
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Revolution,” the day when “the President of the United States recognized the 
right of Congress to end US military involvement in Indochina.”59 Finally, on 
November 7, 1973, Congress overrode Nixon’s veto of the War Powers Act, 
effectively ending the “imperial presidency.”60

Conclusion

What can we learn from all of this? In The Flawed Architect: Henry Kissinger 
and American Foreign Policy, Jussi Hanhimäki drew a harsh assessment of the 
war’s exit orchestrated by Nixon and Kissinger. Hanhimäki admitted that 
their policy deprived the Vietnam question of its status as a major element 
of American political life, especially after the return of the POWs in 1973 and 
in the context of détente and the opening-up of China. While the nation was 
on the verge of civil war, Nixon and Kissinger had brought back calm. But 
at what cost? Hanhimäki speaks not of a “peace with honor” but of a “peace 
with horror.” In his eyes, American policy resulted in a loss of credibility and a 
bitter taste of betrayal. Why? Because Nixon and Kissinger’s planetary vision 
of international relations led them to consider local conflicts only through the 
prism of triangular diplomacy and the superpowers, even if it meant trying 
to get rid of them by all means if they interfered with their global aims. With 
dramatic consequences:

The Americans left behind a situation ripe for further turmoil rather than 
even a tentative peace. After the American withdrawal, the entire subconti-
nent gradually descended into a new vortex of violence that would only tem-
porarily be concluded two years later. With the American presence gone, the 
competing interests of the various warring parties in Vietnam, Cambodia, 
and Laos, as well as the growing Sino-Soviet interest in safeguarding their 
respective influence in the region only added fuel to the subcontinent’s fire.61

Did the Americans, however, create the conditions for this chaos? Maybe. 
Hanhimäki’s assessment seems to add credence to the domino theory. 
Indeed, with the “fall” of Saigon in April 1975, communism extended its 
bloody grip on the region. Can we affirm, as William Shawcross did, that 

	59	 Thomas M. Franck and Edward Weisband, Foreign Policy by Congress (New York, 
1979), 68.

	60	 Memorandum for the President from Henry A. Kissinger, subject: War Powers 
Legislation, undated, NPMP, White House Special Files, Staff Member & Office Files, John 
W. Dean III, Box 73, Folder War Powers of the President [1 of 2].

	61	 Jussi Hanhimäki, The Flawed Architect: Henry Kissinger and American Foreign Policy (New 
York, 2004), 257–9.
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by intervening in Cambodia in 1969 the United States paved the way for the 
Khmer Rouge genocide?62 Kissinger himself has vehemently opposed this 
idea. In the last volume of his memoirs, for example, he wrote that the idea 
that the American bombings in Cambodia were responsible for all the evils of 
Cambodia can probably be explained by the fact that they were the only ones 
in Indochina that were not initiated by either Kennedy or Johnson, and that, 
in any case, it is as absurd as the one that would make the British bombing of 
Hamburg the cause of the Holocaust.63

In Vietnam, Nixon and Kissinger undoubtedly arrived at the least bad pos-
sible solution, as some authors, including William Bundy, grant them. In A 
Tangled Web, Bundy writes of the Paris Agreement, not without wisdom, that 
despite its imperfection “almost certainly, no better terms could have been 
reached. Among the many writings on the war, very few have attempted to 
establish how well the task was accomplished.”64 By January 1973, Southeast 
Asia had, very temporarily, regained its true scale for US policy: a small pen-
insula at the end of a huge continent. The “Phony Peace,” however, would 
soon turn into open warfare.
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